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Consolidated statement of profit or loss 

 

 
 

Note 

 Year ended 
31 Dec. 

2021  

Year ended 
31 Dec. 

2020 
   KD  KD 
      
Revenue      
Sales and contracting revenue   68,490,740  76,148,034 
Cost of revenue 7  (54,929,195)  (67,390,625) 

Gross profit   13,561,545  8,757,409 
Dividend income   1,614,982  3,069,163 
Other investment losses   (19,563)  (2,664) 
Share of results of associates   411,251  39,578 
Gain on bargain purchase of an associate 13a  10,834,531  - 
Interest and other income   39,669  129,613 
Foreign currency exchange gain    201,756  342,653 

   26,644,171  12,335,752 

      
Expenses and other charges      
General and administrative expenses 7  (5,070,842)  (3,701,465) 
Commercial expenses 7  (1,794,983)  (1,576,008) 
Provision for doubtful debts – net   (1,810,016)  (365,912) 
Provision for other receivables   (57,900)  - 
(Provision)/reversal of provision for obsolete and slow-moving  
inventories – net 

  
(27,074)  143,095 

Finance costs 8  (350,316)  (397,079) 

   (9,111,131)  (5,897,369) 

Profit before taxation and Directors’ remuneration   17,533,040  6,438,383 
Taxation 9  (1,100,947)  (567,609) 
Directors’ remuneration   (310,000)  (310,000) 

Profit for the year   16,122,093  5,560,774 

      
Profit for the year attributable to:      
  Owners of the Parent Company   16,057,067  5,571,085 
  Non-controlling interests   65,026  (10,311) 

Profit for the year   16,122,093  5,560,774 

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of 
the Parent Company 11 

 
77 Fils  27 Fils 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes set out on pages 11 to 52 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Year ended  
31 Dec.  

2021  

Year ended  
31 Dec.  

2020 
  KD  KD 

     
Profit for the year  16,122,093  5,560,774 

     
Other comprehensive income:     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations  (39,667)  10,682 

  (39,667)  10,682 

     
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:     
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates  (3,880)  - 
Net change in fair value of investments at FVTOCI arising during the year  35,705,606  14,341,348 

  35,701,726  14,341,348 

Total other comprehensive income  35,662,059  14,352,030 

Total comprehensive income for the year  51,784,152  19,912,804 

     
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:     

Owners of the Parent Company  51,721,308  19,922,528 
Non-controlling interests  62,844  (9,724) 

  51,784,152  19,912,804 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes set out on pages 11 to 52 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

  
 
 

Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 

  

  
 

Share  
capital 

 
 

Share 
premium 

Treasury 
shares 

Statutory, 
voluntary 

and general 
reserves 

 
Other 

components    
of equity 

 
 

Retained    
earnings 

 
 
 

Sub-total 

 
Non-

controlling 
interests 

 
 
 

Total 
 KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD 

          
Balance at 1 January 2021 20,993,131 29,160,075 (454,480) 68,740,454 47,981,962 19,437,247 185,858,389 441,798 186,300,187 

Purchase of treasury shares - - (121,244) - - - (121,244) - (121,244) 
Cash dividend (note 25) - - - - - (10,452,653) (10,452,653) - (10,452,653) 

Transactions with owners - - (121,244) - - (10,452,653) (10,573,897) - (10,573,897) 

Profit for the year - - - - - 16,057,067 16,057,067 65,026 16,122,093 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) - - - - 35,664,241 - 35,664,241 (2,182) 35,662,059 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - -  35,664,241 16,057,067 51,721,308 62,844 51,784,152 

Transfer to general reserve - - - 1,718,827 - (1,718,827) - - - 

Gain on sale of investments at FVTOCI - - - - (905,130) 905,130 - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2021 20,993,131 29,160,075 (575,724) 70,459,281 82,741,073 24,227,964 227,005,800 504,642 227,510,442 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes set out on pages 11 to 52 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued) 

 
  

 
 

Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 

  

  
 

Share  
capital 

 
 

Share 
premium 

Treasury 
shares 

Statutory, 
voluntary 

and general 
reserves 

 
Other 

components    
of equity 

 
 

Retained    
earnings 

 
 
 

Sub-total 

 
Non-

controlling 
interests 

 
 
 

Total 
 KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD 

          
Balance at 1 January 2020 20,993,131 29,160,075 - 68,095,584 43,560,477 12,866,109 174,675,376 451,522 175,126,898 

Purchase of treasury shares - - (649,799) - - - (649,799) - (649,799) 
Sale of treasury shares - - 195,319 - 77,888 - 273,207 - 273,207 
Cash dividend (note 25) - - - - - (8,362,923) (8,362,923) - (8,362,923) 

Transactions with owners - - (454,480) - 77,888 (8,362,923) (8,739,515) - (8,739,515) 

Profit/(loss) for the year - - - - - 5,571,085 5,571,085 (10,311) 5,560,774 
Other comprehensive income - - - - 14,351,443 - 14,351,443 587 14,352,030 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - - - - 14,351,443 5,571,085 19,922,528 (9,724) 19,912,804 

Transfer to general reserve - - - 644,870 - (644,870) - - - 

Gain on sale of investments at FVTOCI - - - - (10,007,846) 10,007,846 - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 20,993,131 29,160,075 (454,480) 68,740,454 47,981,962 19,437,247 185,858,389 441,798 186,300,187 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes set out on pages 11 to 52 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

 

 
 

Note 

Year ended     
31 Dec.  

2021  

Year ended   
31 Dec.  

2020 
  KD  KD 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Profit for the year  16,122,093  5,560,774 
Adjustments:     
Depreciation   1,495,261  1,093,924 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits   772,206  399,090 
Finance costs  350,316  397,079 
Interest income  (13,083)  (6,005) 
Dividend income  (1,614,982)  (3,069,163) 
Other investment losses  -  459 
Share of results of associates  (411,251)  (39,578) 
Gain on bargain purchase of an associate  (10,834,531)  - 
Loss/(gain) on sale/ disposal of property, plant and equipment  19,369  (898) 
Provision for doubtful debts – net  1,810,016  365,912 
Provision for other receivables  57,900  - 
Provision/(reversal of provision) for obsolete and slow moving 
inventories – net 

 
27,074  (143,095) 

Foreign exchange gain on non-operating liabilities  -  (49,594) 

  7,780,388  4,508,905 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     
Inventories  6,096,569  (6,754,402) 
Trade accounts receivable  (1,538,222)  (12,893,715) 
Other receivables and prepayments  751,102  428,410 
Trade accounts payable  133,194  (539,392) 
Other payables and accruals  758,720  850,542 
Employees’ end of service benefits paid  (431,036)  (298,748) 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  13,550,715  (14,698,400) 

     
INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash and bank balances  (4,522,719)  - 
Purchase of associates  (73,823,082)  - 
Additions to property, plant and equipment  (1,241,319)  (566,574) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  26,509  900 
Purchase of investments at FVTOCI  (1,471,957)  (21,183,997) 
Proceeds from sale of investments at FVTOCI  4,751,610  47,474,364 
Dividend income received  1,414,773  3,064,968 
Other investment income received  -  4,894 
Interest income received  13,083  6,005 

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities  (74,853,102)  28,800,560 

     
FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Payment of cash dividend  (10,434,061)  (7,997,512) 
Purchase of treasury shares  (121,244)  (649,799) 
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares  -  273,207 
Net movement in term-loans  25,081,300  (12,774) 
Net movement in Islamic financing facilities  40,000,000  (3,547,712) 
Finance costs paid  (291,009)  (398,337) 
Payment of lease liabilities  (151,416)  - 

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities  54,083,570  (12,332,927) 

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (7,218,817)  1,769,233 
Foreign currency adjustment  (38,514)  3,090 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 17 26,238,819  24,466,496 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 17 18,981,488  26,238,819 

 
 
The notes set out on pages 11 to 52 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1 Incorporation and activities 

Gulf Cable and Electrical Industries Company – KPSC (“the Parent Company”) is a registered Kuwaiti Public 
Shareholding Company, which was established on 15 March 1975. The shares of the Parent Company are listed 
on Kuwait Stock Exchange.  
 
The Group comprises the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. The details of the Group’s subsidiaries are 
disclosed in Note 6. 
 
Pursuant to the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on 22 June 2020, the objectives of the 
Parent Company were amended, and the amendments were authenticated in the commercial register on                 
2 September 2020.  
 
Objectives for which the Parent Company was incorporated are as follows:  
 
1- Produce all kinds of electrical and telephone cables of various sizes and varieties;  

 

2- Produce all kinds of electric and telephone wires of various sizes and varieties;  
 

3- Produce the wires necessary for the production of light bulbs;  
 

4- Produce light bulbs of all varieties and sizes after obtaining the necessary license from the Public 
Authority for Industry;  
 

5- Manufacture electrical transformers, switches and distribution panels after obtaining the necessary 
license from the Public Authority for Industry;  
 

6- Various manufacturing relating to power equipment and tools for industrial or household purposes 
after obtaining the necessary license from the Public Authority for Industry;  
 

7- Produce all kinds of aluminum chips and nylon covering rolls of various sizes and varieties after 
obtaining the necessary license from the Public Authority for Industry;  
 

8- Produce copper bars which are used in the production of electrical and telephone cables after obtaining 
the necessary license from the Public Authority for Industry; 
 

9- Trade in all kinds of these products;  
 

10- Import machinery, plant, equipment and tools necessary to achieve the Company’s objectives;  
 

11- Import the raw materials for this industry;  
 

12- Invest the surplus funds in investment portfolios in order to serve the Company’s objectives;  
 

13.  Owning real estate and movables for the benefit of the Company. 
 
The Parent Company may have interest or participate in any aspect in the entities which practice similar 
activities or which may assist it in the achievement of its objectives in Kuwait and abroad. The Parent Company 
may also purchase these entities or affiliate them therewith.    
 
The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is PO Box 1196, Safat 13012, State of Kuwait. 
 
These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for issue by the 
board of directors of the Parent Company on 31 March 2022 and are subject to the approval of the General 
Assembly of the shareholders. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

2 Statement of compliance  

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the 
IASB. 

 

3 Changes in accounting policies  

 
3.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group 
No new amendments or standards were effective for the current reporting period except for the extension of 
the IFRS 16 amendment discussed below.  
 
Amendment to IFRS 16 - COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 
The IFRS 16 Leases amendment relate to Covid19 Rent Related Concessions that has been extended until 30 
June 2022.  The practical expedient allows lessees to elect to not carry out an assessment to decide whether a 
COVID-19-related rent concession received is a lease modification. The lessee is permitted to account for the 
rent concession as if the change is not a lease modification.  

 
3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective 
At the date of authorisation of this consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not 
been adopted early by the Group. 
 

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting 
policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on new 
standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but 
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial information. 
 
Standard or Interpretation Effective for annual periods beginning 

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments 

 
No stated date 

IFRS 3 Amendment – Reference to the conceptual framework 1 January 2022 
IAS 1 Amendments- Classification of current and non-current 1 January 2023 
IAS 1 Amendments- Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023 
IAS 8 Amendments- Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023 
IAS 16 – Amendments – Proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022 
IAS 37 – Amendments – Onerous contracts - Cost of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022 
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022 

 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture - Amendments 
The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate 
or joint venture, as follows: 

• require full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or 
contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations) 

•  require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a 
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or 
joint venture. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 

 
3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture – Amendments (continued) 
These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution 
of assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of 
control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves. 
 
IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, early 
implementation is allowed. Management anticipates that the application of these amendments may have an 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in future should such transactions arise. 
 
IFRS 3 – Reference to the conceptual framework 
The amendments add a requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 
37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy 
that would be within the scope of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to determine whether the 
obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments 
also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business 
combination 
 
Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of current or non-current 
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify the classification of a liability as either current or non-current is based on the 
entity’s rights at the end of the reporting period. Stating management expectations around whether they will 
defer settlement or not does not impact the classification of the liability. It has added guidance about lending 
conditions and how these can impact classification and has included requirements for liabilities that can be 
settled using an entity’s own instruments. 
 
Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
IAS 1 Amendments – Disclosure of accounting policies 
The amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose material accounting policies instead of significant 
accounting policies.  The amendments clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of 
its nature, even if the related amounts are immaterial. 
 
Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
IAS 8 Amendments – Definition of accounting estimates 
The amendments to IAS 8 provide an exemption from the initial recognition exemption provided in IAS 12.15(b) 
and IAS 12.24. Accordingly, the initial recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in which equal 
amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition. This is also explained in 
the newly inserted paragraph IAS 12.22A. 
 
Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

IAS 16 Amendments - Proceeds before intended use 
The amendment prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts 
received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, an 
entity will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. 
 

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendment in the future will have a significant impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle 
Amendment to IAS 1 simplifies the application of IFRS 1 by a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter 
after its parent in relation to the measurement of cumulative translation differences. Subsidiary that is a first-
time adopter later than its parent might have been required to keep two parallel sets of accounting records for 
cumulative translation differences based on different dates of transition to IFRSs. However, the amendment 
extends the exemption to cumulative translation differences to reduce costs for first-time adopters. 
 

Amendment to IFRS 9 relates to the ‘10 per cent’ Test for Derecognition of Financial Liabilities – In 
determining whether to derecognise a financial liability that has been modified or exchanged, an entity assesses 
whether the terms are substantially different. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when 
assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of 
the original financial liability. 
 

Amendment to IFRS 16 avoids the potential for confusion in applying IFRS 16 Leases because of how 
Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16 had illustrated the requirements for lease incentives. Before the 
amendment, Illustrative Example 13 had included as part of the fact pattern a reimbursement relating to 
leasehold improvements; the example had not explained clearly enough the conclusion as to whether the 
reimbursement would meet the definition of a lease incentive in IFRS 16. The IASB decided to remove the 
potential for confusion by deleting from Illustrative Example 13 the reimbursement relating to leasehold 
improvements. 
 

Amendment to IAS 41 removes the requirement in IAS 41.22 to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring 
fair value. This amendment aligns the requirements in IAS 41 on fair value measurement with those in other 
IFRS Standards. 
 

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

4 Significant accounting policies 

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set 
out below.  
 
4.1  Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared under the historical cost convention 
except for investments at fair value through other comprehensive income which are measured at fair value. 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”) which is the functional 
and presentation currency of the Parent Company. 
 

The Group has elected to present the “statement of comprehensive income” in two statements: the “statement 
of profit or loss” and the “statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income”.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
4.2 Basis of consolidation 
The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for reporting dates which are typically not more than three months 
from that of the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made for the effect of 
any significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Parent 
Company’s financial statements. 
 
All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised 
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-Group asset sales 
are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective. 
 
Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.  
 
Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.  
 
Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and 
net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of 
subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective 
ownership interests. 
 
When a controlling interest in the subsidiaries is disposed of, the difference between the selling price and the 
net asset value plus cumulative translation difference and goodwill is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is 
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 when applicable, 
or the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 
 
However, changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount 
by which the noncontrolling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company. 
 
4.3 Business combinations 
The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair 
values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the 
fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are 
expensed as incurred. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in 
the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. 
 
The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless 
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition. 
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
4.3  Business combinations (continued) 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by 
the acquiree. 
 
Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the 
sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree and c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-
date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated 
above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss immediately. 
 
4.4 Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually 
identified and separately recognised. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
 
4.5 Investment in associates  
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 

 
The Group’s investment in associates is accounted for under the equity method of accounting, i.e. on the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the 
net assets of the associate, less any impairment and the consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the 
Group’s share of the results of operations of associate. 
 
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. 
 
The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part 
of that investment. Any excess of the Parent Company's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the 
carrying amount may also be necessary for changes in the Group’s share in the associate arising from changes 
in the associate’s equity. Changes in the Group’s share in associate’s equity are recognised immediately in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any 
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions with associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s share in the associate. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment in the asset 
transferred. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
4.5 Investment in associates (continued) 
An assessment for impairment of investment in associates is performed when there is an indication that the 
asset has been impaired, or that impairment losses recognised in prior years no longer exist. 
 
The financial statements of the associate are prepared either to the Parent Company’s reporting date or to a 
date not earlier than three months of the Parent Company’s reporting date using consistent accounting policies. 
Where practicable, adjustments are made for the effect of significant transactions or other events that occurred 
between the reporting date of the associates and the Parent Company’s reporting date. 
 
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining 
investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of 
significant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
However, when the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the 
equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously 
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or 
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 
 
4.6   Revenue 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with 
a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it 
transfers control of a service to a customer.  The Group follows a 5-step process: 
 
1. Identifying the contract with a customer 
2. Identifying the performance obligations 
3. Determining the transaction price 
4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 
5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied. 
 
In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations 
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties. 
 
Revenue is recognized either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance 
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers. 
 
The Group recognizes contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance 
obligations and reports these amounts, if any, as other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the 
Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable, if any, in its consolidated statement of financial 
position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is required before the consideration 
is due. 
 
4.6.1 Sale of goods 
Revenue from sale of goods is recognized at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the 
customers generally upon delivery or shipment of the goods.  
 
Revenue from the sale of goods with no significant service obligation is recognised on delivery.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
4.6        Revenue (continued) 
 
4.6.1 Sale of goods (continued) 
In determining the transaction price for the sale of goods, the Group considers the effects of variable 
consideration, the existence of significant financing components, non-cash consideration and consideration 
payable to the customer (if any). 
 
4.7 Interest income 
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.  
 
4.8 Dividend income 
Dividend income, other than those from associates, are recognised at the time the right to receive payment is 
established. 
 
4.9 Operating expenses 
Operating expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the service 
or at the date of their origin.  
 
4.10 Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or 
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs. 
 
4.11 Taxation 
 
4.11.1 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) 
The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders 
of the Parent Company in accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of 
Directors’ resolution, which states that income from associates and subsidiaries, Board of Directors’ 
remuneration, transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when determining the 
contribution. 
 
4.11.2 National Labour Support Tax (NLST) 
NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolution No. 24 of 
2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company for the 
year. As per law, income from associates and subsidiaries, cash dividends from listed companies which are 
subjected to NLST have to be deducted from the profit for the year. 
 
4.11.3 Zakat 
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group attributable to the shareholders of the 
Parent Company in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 
December 2007. 
 
Under the NLST and Zakat regulations no carry forward of losses to the future years or any carry back to prior 
year is permitted. 
 
4.11.4 Taxation on overseas subsidiaries 
Taxation on overseas subsidiaries is calculated on the basis of the tax rates applicable and prescribed according 
to the prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of the countries where these subsidiaries operate. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
4.12 Segment reporting 
The Group has three operating segments: the cable manufacture, investment and rendering services segments. 
In identifying these operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing 
its main products and services. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires 
different approaches and other resources. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices. 
 
For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its consolidated 
financial statements. In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities 
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment.  
 
4.13 Property, plant and equipment 
 
4.13.1 Land 
Land held for use in production or administration is stated at cost. As no finite useful life for land can be 
determined, related carrying amounts are not depreciated. 
 
4.13.2 Buildings, vehicles and other equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment of value. 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less the estimated residual value of property, plant 
and equipment, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
• Buildings:                                            20 to 25 years 
• Plant and machinery:                           10 years 
• Vehicles, furniture and equipment:      4 to 10 years 
• Agriculture farm and related facilities:  5 to 10 years. 
 
The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period of 
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits arising from items of property. 
 
Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually. 
 
When assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and 
any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. 
 
No depreciation is provided on freehold land. Properties in the course of construction for production or 
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.  Depreciation of these assets, 
which is on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended 
use. 
 
4.14    Leases 
 
The Group as a lessee  
For any new contracts, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a 
contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration’.  
 

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether: 
 

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly 
specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

4.14 Leased assets (continued) 
 
The Group as a lessee (continued)  
 

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified 
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract  

 
• the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The 

Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout 
the period of use.  

 
The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical 
expedients. Instead of recognising a right of use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee  
At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right of use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet 
measured as follows: 
 
Right of use asset 
The right of use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end 
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives 
received).  
 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the Group depreciates the right of use assets on a straight-line basis from 
the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right of use asset or the end of 
the lease term. The Group also assesses the right of use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.  

 
Lease liability 
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments 
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the 
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.  
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in 
substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.  
 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability is reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is 
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. 
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right of use asset, or 
profit and loss if the right of use asset is already reduced to zero.  
 
4.15 Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets 
For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely 
independent cash inflows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment 
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within 
the Group at which management monitors goodwill.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

4.15 Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets (continued) 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as 
equivalent to its operating segments) are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets or 
cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine 
the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from the asset or each cash-generating unit 
and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used 
for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as 
necessary to exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements.  
 

Discount factors are determined individually for each asset or cash-generating unit and reflect management’s 
assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risks factors. 
 

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that 
cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-
generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an 
impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-
generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount. 
 

4.16 Financial instruments   
 

4.16.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by directly attributable 
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at 
fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below. 
 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:  
 

• rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;  

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pay and receive’ 
arrangement and either  

 

(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or  
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset but 

has transferred control of the asset. 
 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- 
through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset 
nor transferred control of the asset, a new asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement in the asset. 
 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
4.16 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
4.16.2 Classification of financial assets 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon 
initial recognition: 
 

• financial assets at amortised cost 
• financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) 
• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

 
The classification is determined by both: 
 

• the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset 
• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

 
The Group may make the following irrevocable tests/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset: 
 

• the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment 
in other   comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and 

• the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI 
criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch  

 
4.16.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets  
 
a) Financial assets at amortised cost 
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVTPL): 
 

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its 
contractual cash flows 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

 
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 
The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise mainly of the following: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances, together with cash in portfolios and time deposits 
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value less due to banks. 
 
Trade accounts receivable and other financial assets 
Trade accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount less allowance for any uncollectible amounts. 
An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts 
are written off as incurred. 
 
Receivables which are not categorised under any of the above are classified as “Other financial assets” 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

4.16 Financial instruments   
 

4.16.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued) 
 

b) Financial assets at FVTOCI  
The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI mainly comprise of investments in equity instruments which represent 
investments in equity shares of various companies and include both quoted and unquoted. 
 

The Group accounts for financial assets at FVTOCI if the assets meet the following conditions: 
 

• they are held under a business model whose objective it is “hold to collect” the associated cash flows 
and sell; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

Any gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) will be recycled to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss upon derecognition of the asset (except for equity investments at FVTOCI as 
detailed below). 
 

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument‑by‑instrument basis) to 
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the 
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business 
combination. 
 

A financial asset is held for trading if: 
 

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or 
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 

together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short‑term profit‑taking; or 
• it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 

effective hedging instrument). 
 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
 

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cumulative changes infair value account within equity. 
The cumulative gain or loss is transferred to retained earnings on disposal within the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity. 
 

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. 
 

c) Financial assets at FVTPL 
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for measurement at amortised cost or FVTOCI are categorised at 
fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual 
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial 
instruments fall into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which 
the hedge accounting requirements apply. The category also contains investments in equity shares. 
 

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market 
transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market exists. 
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4.16 Financial instruments   
 
4.16.4      Impairment of financial assets 
All financial assets except for those at FVTPL and Equity investments at FVTOCI are subject to review for 
impairment at least at each reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a Group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each 
category of financial assets, which are described below. 
 
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets at amortised cost 
or at FVTOCI. 
 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 
since initial recognition of the respective financial asset. 
 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of 

default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward‑looking information as described 
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount 
at the reporting date. 
 
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, and due from related parties balances. The 
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date, including time value of money where appropriate. 
 
For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial 

instrument at an amount equal to 12‑month ECL. 
 
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the 

expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12‑month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that 
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date. 
 
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for all financial 
assets with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account. 
 
If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in 
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL 

are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12‑month ECL at the current 
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used. 
 
4.16.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 
The Group’s financial liabilities include term loans, murabaha payables, ijara finance payable, trade payables, 
other payables and accruals.  
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4.16 Financial instruments (continued)  
 
4.16.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities (continued) 
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 
 
a) Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
 
Term loans 
All borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method (EIR). 
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method amortisation process. 
 
Islamic financing facilities 
Islamic financing facilities represent amount payable on deferred settlement basis for assets purchases under 
Islamic financing facilities arrangements. Islamic financing facilities are stated at the total amount payable, less 
deferred finance cost. Deferred finance cost is expensed on a time apportionment basis taking account of the 
borrowing rate attributable and the balance outstanding. 
 
Trade payables, other payables and accruals 
Trade payables, other payables and accruals are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or 
services received, whether billed by the supplier or not.  

 
4.17 Trade and settlement date accounting 
All ‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the 
entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in 
the market place. 

 
4.18 Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 
4.19 Amortised cost of financial instruments 
This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes 
into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate. 
 
4.20 Fair value of financial instruments 
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by 
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  
 
For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current 
fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation 
models. 
 
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided 
in Note 30. 
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
4.21 Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses directly attributable 
to the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions of related production overheads, based on normal 
operating capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are assigned using the cost formula.  
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling 
expenses. 
 
4.22 Equity, reserves and dividend payments 
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up. 
 
Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with 
the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.  
 
Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies’ law and the Parent Company’s articles of association.  
 
General reserve comprises appropriations of current and prior period profits. 
 
Other components of equity include the following: 

• Foreign currency translation reserve – comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the 
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries into Kuwait Dinars. 

• Cumulative changes in fair value– comprises gains and losses relating to the investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income.  

• Treasury shares reserve – comprises cumulative gains, net of any losses, arising on sale of treasury shares 
 
Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained profits/(losses). All transactions with owners 
of the Parent Company are recorded separately within equity.  
 
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have 
been approved in a general meeting. 
 
4.23 Treasury shares 
Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group 
and not yet reissued or cancelled. Treasury shares are accounted for under cost method. Under this method, 
the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity. Treasury shares are 
not entitled to cash dividends that the Group may distribute.  The issue of stock dividend shares increases the 
number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total 
cost of treasury shares.  
 
When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are recorded directly in “treasury shares reserve” in the 
shareholders’ equity. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on 
that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the voluntary reserve and statutory 
reserve. Subsequent to this, should profits arise from sale of treasury shares an amount is transferred to reserves 
and retained earnings equal to the loss previously charged to this account. 
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

4.24 Employees’ end of service benefits 
The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees.  The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the 
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period in accordance 
with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts.  The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the 
period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a 
result of termination on the reporting date. 
 

With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, in addition to the end of service benefits, the Group makes 
contributions to the Public Institution for Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. 
The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due. 
 

4.25 Foreign currency translation 
 

4.25.1 Functional and presentation currency 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured using the functional currency. 
 

4.25.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using 
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items 
denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated 
using the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. 
 

4.25.3 Foreign operations  
In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a functional 
currency other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional currency of the entities 
in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting period. 
 

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date. 
Income and expenses have been translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange 
differences are charged/credited to other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign currency 
translation reserve in equity. On sale of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences 
recognised in consolidated statement of changes in equity are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on sale. 
 

4.26 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can 
be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. 
 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the 
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the 
present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be 
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are 
discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material. 
 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow 
of economic benefits is probable. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

4 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
   

4.26 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities (continued) 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed 
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 
 

4.27 Related party transactions 
Related parties represent subsidiaries, associate, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel 
of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing 
policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. 
 

5 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 
 

5.1 Significant management judgments  
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant 
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements: 
 

5.1.1    Business model assessment 
The Group classifies financial assets after performing the business model test (please see accounting policy for 
financial instruments sections in note 4.16). This test includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence 
including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured and the risks that 
affect the performance of the assets. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the 
business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not 
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification 
of those assets. 
 

5.1.2 Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations 
The determination of the whether or not performance obligation criterial set out in IFRS 15 relating to transfer 
of control of goods to customers has been satisfied requires significant judgement.  
 

5.1.3  Control assessment 
When determining control, the management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the 
relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities 
and ability to use its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement.   
 

5.1.4 Significant influence 
Significant influence exists when the size of an entity’s own voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of 
other vote holders, give the entity the practical ability unilaterally to direct the relevant activities of the company. 
 

5.2 Estimates uncertainty 
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 
different. 
 

5.2.1 Impairment of goodwill 
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of 
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use 
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and 
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

5 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty 

(continued) 

 
5.2 Estimates uncertainty (continued) 
 
5.2.2 Impairment of associates 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any 
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date based on 
existence of any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group 
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its 
carrying value and recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
5.2.3 Impairment of assets with definite lives 
At the financial position date, the Group’s management assesses, whether there is any indication that assets 
with definite lives may be impaired. The recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on the “value in 
use” method. This method uses estimated cash flow projections over the estimated useful life of the asset.  
 
5.2.4 Impairment of financial assets 
Measurement of estimated credit losses involves estimates of loss given default and probability of default. Loss 
given default is an estimate of the loss arising in case of default by customer. Probability of default is an estimate 
of the likelihood of default in the future. The Group based these estimates using reasonable and supportable 
forward-looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic 
drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. 
 
An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable is made when collection of the full amount 
is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis. 
Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision 
applied according to the length of time past due, based on historical recovery rates. 
 
5.2.5 Impairment of inventories 
Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  When inventories become old or obsolete, 
an estimate is made of their net realisable value.  For individually significant amounts this estimation is 
performed on an individual basis.  Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, 
are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or 
obsolescence, based on historical selling prices. 
 
Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence 
available at each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by future technology 
or other market-driven changes that may reduce future selling prices. 
 
5.2.6 Useful lives of depreciable assets 
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the 
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change 
the utility of certain software and equipment. 
 
5.2.7 Fair value of financial instruments 
Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active 
market quotes are not available). This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on 
market inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such 
data is not observable, management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may 
vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

6 Interests in subsidiaries 

 
6.1 Composition of the Group 
Details of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 
 

 
6.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests 
Non-controlling interests of the above subsidiaries with a balance of KD504,642 (2020: KD441,798) are not 
individually material to the Group. 
 
6.3 Acquisition of a subsidiary 
On 27 June 2021, the Parent Company signed an agreement to acquire 99% equity stake in Al Reaya Company 
for Buildings and Cities Cleaning Contracting - WLL ("Al Reaya") and the remaining 1% was acquired by one 
of the Group’s subsidiaries the effective date of acquisition was 1 January 2021. The provisional assets and 
liabilities of Al Reaya as of the date of the acquisition were as follows: 
 

   KD 
    

Fair value of consideration paid   4,600,000 

    
Recognised amounts of identifiable net assets:    
    
Property, plant and equipment   2,804,139  
Cash and bank balances   77,281  
Trade accounts receivable   2,454,486  
Other receivables and prepayments   885,322  

Total assets   6,221,228  

    

Term loans   3,224,880 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits   140,581  
Trade accounts payable   202,157  
Other payables and accruals   252,728  
Due to bank   78,594  
Due to related parties   1,325,468  

Total liabilities   5,224,408  

Total identifiable net assets   996,820  

Goodwill   3,603,180  

 
 
 

Name of the subsidiary 

Country of 
incorporation 
and principal 

place of business 

 
 
 

Principal activity 

Proportion of 
ownership interests 
held by the Group 

at year end 
   31 Dec. 

 2021 
 31 Dec. 

2020 
   %  % 

      

Gulf Cable and Multi Industries Company – 
JSC Jordan 

Manufacture and 
supply of electrical 
cables and holding 

investments. 94.5  94.5 
Al Reaya Company for Buildings and Cities 

Cleaning Contracting – WLL (6.3) Kuwait Cleaning services 100  - 
Hawraa Regional General Trading & 

Contracting Co.- WLL (“Hawraa”) Kuwait 
General Trading & 

Contracting 97.3  97.3 

Sofer Real Estate Co. - SPC Kuwait 
Sale and purchase of 
land and properties 100  100 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

6 Interests in subsidiaries (continued) 

 
6.3 Acquisition of a subsidiary (continued) 
The initial accounting for the business combination is provisional due to its complexity, and will be adjusted 
retrospectively (if required) when the final purchase price allocation is completed during the one-year 
measurement period from the acquisition date. 
 
6.4 Unconsolidated structural entities 
The Group has no interests in unconsolidated structural entities. 
 

7 Profit for the year 

Profit for the year is stated after charging the following expenses: 
 

 

Year ended 
31 Dec. 
 2021  

  Year ended  
31 Dec.  

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Staff costs 10,795,304  8,275,075 
Depreciation 1,495,261  1,093,924 
Rent-operating leases 182,314  352,585 

 

8 Finance costs 

 

Year ended 
31 Dec. 
 2021  

  Year ended  
31 Dec.  

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
On financial liabilities at amortised costs:    
Loans, Islamic financing facilities and due to banks 339,636  397,079 
Lease liabilities 10,680  - 

 350,316  397,079 

 

9 Taxation 

 

Year ended 
31 Dec. 
 2021  

  Year ended  
31 Dec.  

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Taxation charge on overseas subsidiaries 279,744  - 
Provision for contributions to Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of Science 
(KFAS) 167,770  64,091 
Provision for Zakat 183,033  143,580 
Provision for National Labour Support Tax (NLST) 470,400  359,938 

 1,100,947  567,609 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

10 Net gain on financial assets and financial liabilities 

Net gain on financial assets and financial liabilities, analysed by category, is as follows: 
 

 

Year ended 
31 Dec. 
 2021  

  Year ended  
31 Dec.  

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Financial assets at amortised cost:    
- Interest income 13,083  6,005 
- Provision for doubtful debts – net (1,810,016)  (365,912) 
    
Financial assets at FVTOCI:    
- Recognised directly in other comprehensive income 35,705,606  14,341,348 
- Recognised directly in profit or loss as dividend income 1,614,982  3,069,163 

 35,523,655  17,050,604 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:    
- Finance costs (350,316)  (397,079) 

 35,173,339  16,653,525 

    
Net (loss)/gain recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (532,267)  2,312,177 
Net gain recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income 35,705,606  14,341,348 

 35,173,339  16,653,525 

 

11 Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners 

of the Parent Company 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the owners 
of the Parent Company by weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year after excluding 
treasury shares as follows: 
 

 

Year ended 
31 Dec.  

2021 

 Year ended 
31 Dec. 

2020 
    

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company - KD 16,057,067  5,571,085 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year - shares 209,032,131  209,237,340 

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Parent 
Company  77 Fils  27 Fils 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

12 Property, plant and equipment 
  

 
 

Land 

 
 
 

Buildings 

 
 

Plant and 
machinery 

Vehicles, 
furniture 

and 
equipment 

Agriculture 
farm and 
related 

facilities 

 
Assets 
under 

construction 

 
 
 

Total 
 KD KD KD KD KD KD KD 
31 December 2021        
        
Cost        
At 1 January 2021 1,544,843 9,832,153 29,441,634 4,180,354 420,478 9,701 45,429,163 
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary - 300,000 - 3,081,257 - - 3,381,257 
Additions  - - 35,148 397,412 4,275 804,484 1,241,319 
Transfers from assets under construction - (note b) - 28,625 - 30,948 - (59,573) - 
Disposals - - - (73,059) - - (73,059) 
Foreign currency adjustment (728) (2,659) (25,725) (1,668) (1,039) (24) (31,843) 

At 31 December 2021 1,544,115 10,158,119 29,451,057 7,615,244 423,714 754,588 49,946,837 

Accumulated depreciation        
At 1 January 2021 - 7,516,044 27,399,019 3,330,729 22,701 - 38,268,493 
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary - 10,803 - 566,315 - - 577,118 
Charge for the year - 278,812 308,016 790,382 9,895 - 1,387,105 
Relating to disposals - - - (27,181) - - (27,181) 
Foreign currency adjustment - (2,170) (26,193) (2,104) (223) - (30,690) 

At 31 December 2021 - 7,803,489 27,680,842 4,658,141 32,373 - 40,174,845 

        
Net book value        
At 31 December 2021  1,544,115 2,354,630 1,770,215 2,957,103 391,341 754,588 9,771,992 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Gulf Cable and Electrical Industries Company – KPSC and Subsidiaries   

Consolidated Financial Statements 

31 December 2021 

34 

 

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

12 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
  

 
 

Land 

 
 
 

Buildings 

 
 

Plant and 
machinery 

Vehicles, 
furniture 

and 
equipment 

Agriculture 
farm and 
related 

facilities 

 
Assets 
under 

construction 

 
 
 

Total 
31 December 2020 KD KD KD KD KD KD KD 
Cost        
At 1 January 2020 1,544,649 9,523,269 28,330,959 3,832,234 418,426 1,211,630 44,861,167 
Additions  - 8,000 132,786 354,726 1,776 69,286 566,574 
Transfers from assets under construction - (note b) - 300,175 971,046 - - (1,271,221) - 
Disposals - - - (7,050) - - (7,050) 
Foreign currency adjustment 194 709 6,843 444 276 6 8,472 

At 31 December 2020 1,544,843 9,832,153 29,441,634 4,180,354 420,478 9,701 45,429,163 

Accumulated depreciation        
At 1 January 2020 - 7,236,501 26,884,072 3,047,068 13,096 - 37,180,737 
Charge for the year - 280,485 511,874 291,680 9,885 - 1,093,924 
Relating to disposals  - - - (7,048) - - (7,048) 
Foreign currency adjustment - (942) 3,073 (971) (280) - 880 

At 31 December 2020 - 7,516,044 27,399,019 3,330,729 22,701 - 38,268,493 

        
Net book value        
At 31 December 2020 1,544,843 2,316,109 2,042,615 849,625 397,777 9,701 7,160,670 

 
a) The Parent Company’s buildings are constructed on lands leased from the Public Authority for Industry on long-term leases for periods of 5 years renewable for 

similar period. 
 

b) Assets under construction represent the cost incurred on construction of plant, machinery and equipment. During the current and previous year, certain machinery 
and equipment, which were completed and ready for their intended use were capitalized in the appropriate categories. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

13 Investment in associates 

The movement in the carrying value of investment in associates during the year is as follows: 
 

 
31 Dec.  

2021 
 31 Dec.  

2020 
 KD  KD 

    
Balance as at 1 January 1,103,929  1,064,351 
Additions during the year 84,657,613  - 
Share of results 411,251  39,578 
Share of other comprehensive loss (3,880)  - 

Balance as at 31 December 86,168,913  1,103,929 

 
Details of the Group’s associates are as follows: 

Name of the associate 

Country of 
Incorporation and 
principal place of 

business 

 
Principal 
activity 

Proportion of 
ownership interests 
held by the Group at 

the year end 

 
  31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 

2020 
      

Team Holding Company – KSC (Closed) - 
(Unquoted) Kuwait 

Financing and 
investment 47.5%  47.5% 

National Investment Company – KPSC 
(Quoted) (a) Kuwait Financial services 25.4%  - 

Heavy Engineering Industries and Shipbuilding 
– KPSC (Quoted) (b) Kuwait Industrial 28.3%  - 

 
a)  In December 2021, the Group acquired shares in National Investment Company – KPSC in a number of 

transactions which eventually resulted in obtaining significant influence on 26 December 2021. As a result, 
the Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase which has been recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss for the current year. Details are as follows: 

 

   KD 
    
Fair value of consideration paid   44,152,533 
Less: proportionate ownership in the net assets as of acquisition date   (54,987,064) 

Gain on bargain purchase   (10,834,531) 

 

Investment in an associate, held through a portfolio, with a carrying value of KD43,203,842 is pledged 
against Islamic financing facilities (Note 23). 

 
b) In December 2021, the Group acquired shares in Heavy Engineering Industries and Shipbuilding – KPSC 

in a number of transactions which eventually resulted in obtaining significant influence on 6 December 
2021. As a result, the Group recognised a provisional goodwill of KD10,430,101.  Details are as follows: 

 
   KD 

    
Fair value of consideration paid   29,670,549 
Less: proportionate ownership in the net assets as of acquisition date   (19,240,448) 

Provisional goodwill   10,430,101 

 
The provisional goodwill will be adjusted retrospectively, if required, when the final Purchase Price 
Allocation is completed during the twelve-month measurement period from the acquisition date.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

13 Investment in associates (continued) 

Summarised financial information in respect the Group’s material associates are set out below. The summarised financial information below represents the amounts 
presented in the financial statements of the associates (and not the Groups share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group 
and the associate. 

  
National Investment 

Company 

Heaving Engineering 
Industries and 
Shipbuilding 

 
 

Team Holding Company 

 31 Dec. 
2021 

31 Dec. 
2020 

31 Dec. 
2021 

31 Dec. 
2020 

31 Dec. 
2021 

31 Dec. 
2020 

 KD KD KD KD KD KD 
Summarised statement of financial position - 31 December       
Total assets 290,574,000 - 167,664,013 - 3,229,164 3,088,706 
Total liabilities (55,002,000) - (98,773,695) - (632,109) (764,029) 
Non-controlling interests (18,794,000) - (2,854) - (592) (615) 

Equity attributable to the owners of the associate 216,778,000 - 68,887,464 - 2,596,463 2,324,062 

Group’s ownership interest 25.4% - 28.3% - 47.5% 47.5% 

Group’s share of net assets of the associate 54,987,064 - 19,518,428 - 1,233,320 1,103,929 
Goodwill - - 10,430,101 - - - 

Carrying value of Group’s ownership interest 54,987,064 - 29,948,529 - 1,233,320 1,103,929 

Fair value of the Group’s interest in the quoted associates * 44,321,789 - 25,841,041 - - - 

       
Summarised statement of profit or loss – year ended 31 December       
Revenue for the year/period - - 11,628,360 - 2,408,932 2,406,211 
Profit for the year/period - - 994,785 - 272,403 83,324 
Total comprehensive income for the year/period - - 981,092 - 272,403 83,324 

Dividends received from the associate during the year/period - - - - - - 

Share of contingent liabilities and capital commitments 3,831,476 - 21,140,765 - 366,354 289,568 

 

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of the Group’s investments in “Heavy Engineering Industries and Shipbuilding” and “National Investment Company” (based 
on quoted market prices) were KD25,841,041 and KD44,321,789 respectively. The carrying value of these associates exceeded its fair value. However, management 
concluded the recoverable amount of these associates (which represent the higher of fair value less costs to sell, and value in use) was in excess of their carrying value 
and, accordingly, no impairment was recognised against this investment during the year. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

14 Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 

 
31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec.  

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Local quoted securities held through managed portfolios 64,816,226  36,610,973 
Local unquoted securities held through managed portfolios 4,705,721  4,135,390 
Foreign quoted securities held through managed portfolios 18,507,697  14,696,038 
Foreign unquoted securities held through managed portfolios 2,698,145  2,952,755 
Foreign managed unquoted securities -  2,900,238 
Foreign unquoted securities 33,180,532  31,234,529 
Local managed funds 5,188,960  4,141,405 

 129,097,281  96,671,328 

 

 
31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 
 2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Local 74,710,907  44,887,768 
Foreign 54,386,374  51,783,560 

 129,097,281  96,671,328 

 
The movement of the investments at fair value through other comprehensive income during the year is as 
follows: 
 

 
31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 
 2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Opening balance 96,671,328  108,616,152 
Additions 1,471,957  21,188,192 
Disposals  (4,751,610)  (47,474,364) 
Net change in fair value arising during the year  35,705,606  14,341,348 

 129,097,281  96,671,328 

 
These investments are held in equity instruments for medium to long term strategic objectives. Accordingly, 
the management has chosen to identify these investments in equity instruments as investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income where it is believed that the recognition of short-term fluctuations in the 
fair value of these investments in the consolidated statement of profit or loss will not be consistent with the 
Group's strategy to hold such investments for long-term purposes and realizing their performance potential in 
the long term. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

15 Inventories 

 
31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 
 2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Raw materials 12,555,910  20,202,130 
Finished goods 14,464,460  11,754,109 
Work in progress 6,022,803  5,873,624 
Spare parts 2,838,692  2,604,487 

 35,881,865  40,434,350 
Less: provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories  (1,094,184)  (1,067,407) 

 34,787,681  39,366,943 
Goods in transit and prepaid letters of credit 408,361  1,952,742 

 35,196,042  41,319,685 

 
As at 31 December, the movement in the provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories is as follows: 
 

 
31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Balance at 1 January 1,067,407  1,208,267 
Charge for the year 97,934  72,885 
Reversal of provision no longer required  (70,860)  (215,980) 
Foreign currency adjustment (297)  2,235 

Balance at 31 December 1,094,184  1,067,407 

 

16 Trade accounts receivable 

 
31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Trade accounts receivable 40,029,573  35,823,165 
Less: provision for doubtful debts (8,240,759)  (6,217,043) 

 31,788,814  29,606,122 

 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. 
 
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit 
losses on trade receivables. The loss rates are based on days past due for groupings of different debtor segments 
with similar loss patterns. The calculation also considers the past default experience of the debtor, current and 
forward-looking factors affecting the debtor’s ability to settle the amount outstanding, general economic 
condition of the industry in which the debtor operates and an assessment of both current as well as the forecast 
direction of conditions at the reporting date. 
 
Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
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16    Trade accounts receivable (continued) 

The expected credit loss for the trade accounts receivable above at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 
was determined as follows: 
 

  
Current  

More than 
30 Days 

More than 
90 Days 

More than 
180 Days 

More than 
a year 

 
Total 

 KD KD KD KD KD KD 
       
31 December 2021:       
Total carrying amount 7,534,410 5,748,654 2,629,001 4,364,765 19,752,743 40,029,573 
Less: Provision for doubtful 

debts  (15,945) (93,912) (197,195) (592,189) (7,341,518) (8,240,759) 

Total trade accounts 
receivables 7,518,465 5,654,742 2,431,806 3,772,576 12,411,225 31,788,814 

       
 31 December 2020:       
Total carrying amount 4,741,264 6,772,391 13,365,310 5,010,457 5,933,743 35,823,165 
Less: Provision for doubtful 

debts (96,392) (113,273) (105,034) (59,997) (5,842,347) (6,217,043) 

Total trade accounts 
receivables 4,644,872 6,659,118 13,260,276 4,950,460 91,396 29,606,122 

 
The movement of the provision for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:   
 

 
31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Balance at 1 January 6,217,043  5,851,038 
Related to acquisition of a subsidiary 215,847  - 
Charge for the year 1,919,595  389,923 
Reversal of provision no longer required  (109,579)  (24,011) 
Foreign currency adjustment (2,147)  93 

Balance at 31 December 8,240,759  6,217,043 

 

17 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following accounts: 
 

 31 Dec. 
2021  

31 Dec. 
2020 

 KD  KD 
    

Cash in hand 99,333  104,604 
Cash held in managed portfolios 6,283,865  293,688 
Bank balances 12,598,290  25,859,221 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of consolidated statement of 
financial position 

 

18,981,488 

  

26,257,513 
Less: due to banks -  (18,694) 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of consolidated statement of cash 
flows 

 

18,981,488 

  

26,238,819 
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18 Share capital and share premium 

As of 31 December 2021, authorized issued and fully paid share capital in cash of the Parent Company 
comprised of 209,931,309 shares of 100 Fils each (31 December 2020: 209,931,309 shares). 
 

Share premium is not available for distribution. 
 

19 Treasury shares 
 31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 

2020 
    

Number of shares  1,000,000  840,000 
Percentage of issued shares 0.48%  0.40% 
Cost of treasury shares (KD) 575,724  454,480 
Market value (KD) 871,000  625,800 

 

Reserves of the Parent Company equivalent to the cost of treasury shares have been earmarked as non-
distributable.  
 

20 Statutory, voluntary and general reserves 
 

Statutory reserve 
The Companies Law and the Parent Company’s articles of association require that 10% of the profit for the 
year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration 
to be transferred to the statutory reserve. The shareholders of Parent Company may resolve to discontinue 
such annual transfer when the reserve totals 50% of the paid-up share capital.  
 

Distribution of statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% 
of paid up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a 
dividend of that amount. 
 

Voluntary and general reserves 
According to the Parent Company’s articles of association, 10% of the profit for the year attributable to the 
owners of the Parent Company before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration is transferred to the 
voluntary reserve at the discretion of the board of directors subject to the approval of the general assembly.   
 

The board of directors proposed to transfer an amount of KD1,718,827 (2020: KD644,870) to the general 
reserve. 
 

There are no restrictions on distribution of voluntary and general reserves. 
 

21 Other components of equity 
  

Cumulative 
changes in 
fair value 

 
Treasury  
shares 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

 
 
 

Total 

 KD KD KD KD 
     

Balances as at 1 January 2021 47,398,435 77,888 505,639 47,981,962 

Group's share in associates’ reserves (3,880) - - (3,880) 
Currency translation differences - - (37,485) (37,485) 
Change in fair value of investments at FVTOCI 35,705,606 - - 35,705,606 

Other comprehensive income 35,701,726 - (37,485) 35,664,241 

Gain on sale of investments at FVTOCI (905,130) - - (905,130) 

Balances as at 31 December 2021 82,195,031 77,888 468,154 82,741,073 
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21 Other components of equity (continued) 

 
  

Cumulative 
changes in 
fair value 

 
Treasury  
shares 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

 
 
 

Total 

 KD KD KD KD 
     
Balances as at 1 January 2020 43,064,933 - 495,544 43,560,477 

Currency translation differences - - 10,095 10,095 
Change in fair value of investments at FVTOCI 14,341,348 - - 14,341,348 

Other comprehensive income 14,341,348 - 10,095 14,351,443 

Sale of treasury shares - 77,888 - 77,888 

Gain on sale of investments at FVTOCI (10,007,846) - - (10,007,846) 

Balances as at 31 December 2020 47,398,435 77,888 505,639 47,981,962 

 

22 Term loans 
 
 

  31 Dec. 
2021  

31 Dec. 
2020 

   KD  KD 

      
Short term:      

Short term-loans   -  3,646,476 

   -  3,646,476 

      

Long term:      
 - Current portion    5,818,161  - 
 - Due after one year   26,334,495  - 

   32,152,656  - 

   32,152,656  3,646,476 

 
The term loans represent the following: 
 

a) A term loan amounting to KD30,000,000 repayable in 12 semi-annual installments of KD2,500,000 
ending on 20 December 2027. 
 

b) A term loan amounting to KD2,152,656 mature on various dates ending 31 December 2023. 
 
The above loans are denominated in Kuwaiti Dinar and carry commercial interest rates. 
 

23 Islamic financing facilities 
 
 

  31 Dec. 
2021  

31 Dec. 
2020 

   KD  KD 
      

Long term Islamic financing facilities      
 - Current portion     2,000,000  - 
 - Due after one year   38,000,000  - 

   40,000,000  - 
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23 Islamic financing facilities (continued) 

The Islamic financing facilities represent the following: 
 

a) Murabaha amounting to KD10,000,000 repayable in 20 quarterly installments of KD125,000 with final 
repayment of KD7,500,000 on 31 December 2026. 
 

b) Wakala amounting to KD30,000,000 repayable in 10 semi-annual installments of KD750,000 with final 
repayment of KD22,500,000 on 12 December 2026. 

 
As at 31 December 2021, the Wakala Islamic financing facilities are secured against certain sharers of an 
associate with carrying value of KD 43,203,842 (Note 13).  
 
The above facilities are denominated in Kuwaiti Dinar and carry commercial interest rates. 
 

24 Other payables and accruals 

 
31 Dec. 

2021  
31 Dec. 

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Provision for taxation 1,106,590  615,269 
Provision for Board of Directors’ remuneration 310,000  310,000 
Uncollected dividends 2,378,396  2,359,804 
Accrued staff dues 3,055,634  2,721,447 
Other liabilities 2,811,461  1,172,832 

 9,662,081  7,179,352 

 

25 General assembly of shareholders and dividends distribution 

The board of directors of the Parent Company proposed to distribute cash dividend to the shareholders 
equivalent to 60 Fils per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 and an amount of KD 310,000 as 
remuneration to the Parent Company’s Board of Directors for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

 

The Annual General Assembly of the shareholders held on 4 May 2021 approved the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and cash dividend of 50% (2019: 40%) 
equivalent to 50 Fils (2019: 40 Fils) per share of the paid-up share capital amounting to KD10,452,653 for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: KD8,362,923).  
 
Further, the shareholders approved the board of directors’ remuneration of KD310,000 for the year ended 31 
December 2020 (2019: KD310,000). 

 

26 Segmental information 

The Group activities are concentrated in three main segments: cable manufacture, investment and rendering 
services. The segments’ results are reported to the senior management in the Group. In addition, the segments 
results, assets and liabilities are reported based on the geographic locations which the Group operates in.  
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26 Segmental information (continued) 

Geographical information of revenue: 
 

 Kuwait  Middle East  International 
 KD  KD  KD 
31 December 2021      

Revenue 66,931,746  15,157,284  - 

      
31 December 2020      

Revenue 65,218,686  14,017,159  18,266 

 
The following is the segments information, which conforms with the internal reporting presented to 
management: 

 

 
Cable 

manufacture 
  

Investment  
Rendering 
services 

 
Total 

 KD  KD  KD  KD 
        

31 December 2021:        

Revenue 65,445,836  12,841,201  3,044,904  81,331,941 

Segment profit 6,901,376  12,583,286  (1,951,622)  17,533,040 

Unallocated expenses       (1,410,947) 

Profit for the year       16,122,093 

        

Additions to property, plant and equipment 1,211,744  -  29,575  1,241,319 

Depreciation 990,718  -  504,543  1,495,261 

Finance costs 10,681  127,384  212,251  350,316 

Dividend income -  1,614,982  -  1,614,982 

        

Total assets 90,799,117  221,786,586  3,768,952  316,354,655 

Total liabilities (16,149,062)  (70,039,518)  (2,655,633)  (88,844,213) 

Net assets 74,650,055  151,747,068  1,113,319  227,510,442 

        

31 December 2020:        

Revenue 76,148,034  3,106,077  -  79,254,111 

Segment profit 3,562,267  2,876,116  -  6,438,383 

Unallocated expenses     -  (877,609) 

Profit for the year     -  5,560,774 

        
Additions to property, plant and equipment 566,574  -  -  566,574 

Depreciation 1,093,924  -  -  1,093,924 

Finance costs 326,456  70,623  -  397,079 

Dividend income -  3,069,163  -  3,069,163 

        
Total assets 104,671,269  98,105,510  -  202,776,779 

Total liabilities (16,440,274)  (36,318)  -  (16,476,592) 

Net assets 88,230,995  98,069,192  -  186,300,187 
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27 Related party balances and transactions 

Related parties represent subsidiaries, associate, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel 
of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing 
policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. Transactions between the 
Parent Company and its subsidiaries which are related parties of the Parent Company have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of balances and transactions between the Group and 
its other related parties are disclosed below. 
 

 31 Dec. 
2021 

 31 Dec.  
2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Balances included in consolidated statement of financial position    
Trade accounts payable 18,716  15,994 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 175,300  259,585 

 

 

Year ended 
31 Dec.  

2021 

 Year ended 
31 Dec.  

2020 
 KD  KD 
    
Amounts included in consolidated statement of profit or loss    
Revenue 51,832  142,227 
Expenses (47,158)  (5,618) 

    
Key management compensation:    
Salaries and other short-term benefits  649,845  666,575 
End of service benefits  164,446  59,666 
Provision for directors’ remuneration  310,000  310,000 

 1,124,291  1,036,241 

 

28 Capital commitments and contingent liabilities 

Capital commitments at 31 December in respect of contracted capital expenditure amounted to KD574,900 
(31 December 2020: KD30,160). 
 
Contingent liabilities at 31 December 2021 in respect of outstanding letters of guarantee amounted to 
KD6,997,181 (31 December 2020: KD5,284,878).  
 

29 Risk management objectives and policies 

The Group’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest and 
profit rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
The Parent Company’s board of directors is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management and for 
approving risk strategies and principles. The Group’s risk management focuses on actively securing the Group’s 
short to medium term cash flows by minimizing the potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance. Long term financial investments are managed to generate lasting returns. 
 
The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
speculative purposes. 
 
The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below. 
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29 Risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

 
29.1 Market risk 
 
a) Foreign currency risk 
The Group mainly operates in the GCC and other Middle Eastern countries and is exposed to foreign currency 
risk arising from various foreign currency exposures, primarily with respect to Bahrain Dinar and US Dollar. 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net 
investments in foreign operations. 
 
To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored and 
forward exchange contracts, if required, are entered into in accordance with the Group’s risk management 
policies. Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash 
flows (due within twelve months) from longer-term cash flows.  
 
Where the amounts to be paid and received in specific currency are expected to largely offset one another, no 
further hedging activity is undertaken. Forward foreign contracts are mainly entered into for significant long-
term foreign currency exposures that are not expected to be offset by other currency transactions.  
 
The Group had the following net significant exposures denominated in foreign currencies, translated into 
Kuwaiti Dinar at the closing rate at year end: 
 

 31 Dec. 
2021 

 31 Dec. 
2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Bahraini Dinar 389,789  336,413 
US Dollar (44,529)  1,043,658 

 
The foreign currency sensitivity is determined based on 2% (31 December 2020: 2%) increase or decrease in 
exchange rate. There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing 
the sensitivity analysis. 
 
If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened against the foreign currencies assuming the above sensitivity, then this 
would have the following impact on the profit for the year. There is no direct impact on the Group’s equity. 
 

 Profit for the year 

 31 Dec. 
2021 

 31 Dec. 
2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Bahraini Dinar (7,796)  (6,728) 
US Dollar 891  (20,873) 

 (6,905)  (27,601) 

 
If the Kuwaiti Dinar had weakened against the foreign currencies assuming the above sensitivity, then impact 
on the Group’s profit for the year would have been equal and opposite to the above. Exposures to foreign 
exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the transactions. Nonetheless, the 
analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group’s exposure to the foreign currency risk. 
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29 Risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

 
29.1 Market risk (continued) 
 
b)  Interest and profit rate risk 
Interest and profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest and profit rates will affect future 
profitability or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets 
other than bank balances, loans and Islamic financing facilities which are both at fixed rate and floating interest 
rate. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate 
borrowings. The board monitors the interest rate risk by setting limits. 
 
Positions are monitored on a regular basis and hedging strategies are used, if required, to ensure positions are 
maintained within established limits.  
 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates of +1% and –1% (31 December 2020: +1% and –1%) with effect from the beginning of the year. These 
changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market condition.  
 
The calculations are based on the Group’s financial instruments held at each reporting date. All other variables 
are held constant. There is no direct impact on the Group’s equity: 
 

 31 Dec. 2021  31 Dec. 2020 

 +1%  -1%  +1%  -1% 
 KD  KD  KD  KD 
        

Profit for the year (608,825)  608,825  (200,350)  200,350 
 

There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity 
analysis. 
 

c)  Price risk 
The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its equity investments. Equity investments are 
classified as investments at fair value through other comprehensive. 
 
To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. 
 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks individually at 
the reporting date. There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing 
the sensitivity analysis. 
 
If equity prices had individually been 2% (31 December 2020: 2%) higher/lower, the effect on the equity would 
have been as follows: 
 

 31 Dec. 2021  31 Dec. 2020 

 Increase   Decrease  Increase  Decrease 
 2%  2%  2%  2% 
 KD  KD  KD  KD 
        
Investments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income:    

 

   

Impact on equity 2,581,946  (2,581,946)  1,933,427  (1,933,427) 
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29 Risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

 
29.2   Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss.  The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific 
locations or business through diversification of its activities. It also obtains security when appropriate.  
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the 
reporting date, as summarized below:  
 

 31 Dec. 
2021 

 31 Dec. 
2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 129,097,281  96,671,328 
Trade accounts receivable 31,788,814  29,606,122 
Other financial assets 807,005  339,449 
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 18,882,155  26,152,909 

 180,575,255  152,769,808 

 
Bank balances are maintained with high credit quality financial institutions. Trade accounts receivable were 
presented after deducting provision for doubtful debts. Management believes the net balances are neither past 
due nor impaired.  
 
29.3 Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit this risk, 
management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors 
liquidity on a regular basis.  
 
The Group’s maturity profile of financial liabilities is as follows: 
 

 Up to 1 
month 

1-3  
months 

3-12 
months 

 
Over 1 year 

 
Total 

 KD KD KD KD KD 
31 December 2021:      
Liabilities      
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits - - - 4,410,937 4,410,937 
Trade accounts payable - 2,038,235 - - 2,038,235 
Other payables and accruals 1,534,213 2,559,908 5,567,960 - 9,662,081 
Lease liabilities - 151,416 - 428,888 580,304 
Term loans 256,050 162,111 5,400,000 26,334,495 32,152,656 
Islamic financing facilities - 125,000 1,875,000 38,000,000 40,000,000 

 1,790,263 5,036,670 12,842,960 69,174,320 88,844,213 

      

31 December 2020:      
Liabilities      
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits - - - 3,929,186 3,929,186 
Trade accounts payable - 1,702,884 - - 1,702,884 
Other payables and accruals 430,159 1,645,127 5,104,066 - 7,179,352 
Term loans 1,557,057 2,089,419 - - 3,646,476 
Due to banks 18,694 - - - 18,694 

 2,005,910 5,437,430 5,104,066 3,929,186 16,476,592 
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30 Fair value measurement  

 
30.1  Fair value hierarchy 
Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position 
are grouped into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability 
of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows: 
 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities; 

 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset 
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
30.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of 
financial position are as follows: 
 

 
 

31 Dec 
2021 

31 Dec 
2020 

  KD KD 
Financial assets:    
At amortised cost:    
- Trade accounts receivable  31,788,814 29,606,122 
- Other financial assets  807,005 339,449 
- Cash and cash equivalents  18,981,488 26,257,513 
    
At fair value:    
- Investments at FVTOCI  129,097,281 96,671,328 

  180,674,588 152,874,412 

    
Financial liabilities:    
At amortised cost:    
- Trade accounts payable  2,038,235 1,702,884 
- Other payables and accruals  9,662,081 7,179,352 
- Lease liabilities  580,304 - 
- Term loans  32,152,656 3,646,476 
- Islamic financing facilities  40,000,000 - 
- Due to banks   - 18,694 

  84,433,276 12,547,406 

 
Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and all financial liabilities, which are stated 
at amortized cost, approximate their fair values.  
 
The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of 
significant input to the fair value measurement. 
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30 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 

30.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

The financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated financial position are grouped 
into the fair value hierarchy as follows: 
 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
31 December 2021 KD  KD  KD  KD 
Investments at FVTOCI:        
Quoted equity securities  83,323,923  -  -  83,323,923 
Unquoted equity securities -  -  40,584,398  40,584,398 
Managed funds -  5,188,960  -  5,188,960 

 83,323,923  5,188,960  40,584,398  129,097,281 

        

31 December 2020        
Investments at FVTOCI:        
Quoted equity securities 51,307,011  -  -  51,307,011 
Unquoted equity securities -  -  41,222,912  41,222,912 
Managed funds -  4,141,405  -  4,141,405 

 51,307,011  4,141,405  41,222,912  96,671,328 

 

There have been no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the reporting period. 
 

Measurement at fair value 
The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared 
to the previous reporting period. 
 

a) Quoted securities 
The underlying quoted investments in the managed portfolios primarily comprise of local and foreign quoted 
securities whose fair values have been determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date. 
 

b) Unquoted securities 
Unlisted securities are measured at fair value estimated using adjusted net book value and other valuation 
techniques which include some assumptions that are not supportable by observable market prices or rates. 
 

c) Investment in managed funds 
Investment funds managed by others mainly comprise of unquoted units and the fair value of these units has 
been determined based on net assets values reported by the fund manager as of the reporting date. 
 

Level 3 fair value measurements 
The Group's financial assets classified in Level 3 uses valuation techniques based on significant inputs that are 
not based on observable market data. The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from 
beginning to ending balances as follows: 
 

The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from beginning to ending balances as follows: 
 

 
31 Dec. 

2021 
31 Dec. 

2020 
  KD KD 
    

Opening balance  41,222,912 39,192,708 
Additions  - 2,904,433 
Disposals  (2,900,238) (24,717) 
Change in fair value  2,261,724 (849,512) 

Closing balance  40,584,398 41,222,912 
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30 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 

30.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

The Group’s finance team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including 
Level 3 fair values. Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the 
overall objective of maximising the use of market-based information.  
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (e.g unquoted securities) is 
determined by using valuation techniques. Fair value for the unquoted securities investments are approximately 
the summation of the estimated value of underlying investments as if realised on the reporting date.  
 
The investment managers and Group’s finance team in determining the fair value of these investments use a 
variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. 
In determining fair value, techniques such as recent transactions prices and adjusted net book value have been 
used. 
 
The impact on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income would be immaterial 
if the relevant risk variable used to fair value the level 3 investments were changed by 5%. 
 

31 Capital management objectives 

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and to provide adequate return to its shareholders through the optimization of the capital structure. 
 
The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions 
and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or 
sell assets to reduce debt.  
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of the following: 
 

 31 Dec. 
2021 

 31 Dec. 2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Term loans and Islamic financing facilities 72,152,656  3,646,476 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) (18,981,488)  (26,238,819) 

Net debt 53,171,168  (22,592,343) 

Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 227,510,442  185,858,389 

 
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.  
 
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company as 
follows: 

 31 Dec. 
2021 

 31 Dec. 2020 

 KD  KD 
    
Net debt 53,171,168  (22,592,343) 
Total equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 227,510,442  185,858,389 
Gearing ratio 23%  (12%) 
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32 Covid19 Pandemic Impact  

The outbreak of Coronavirus (“COVID19”) pandemic and related global responses have caused material 
disruptions to businesses around the world, leading to an economic slowdown. Global and local equity markets 
have experienced significant volatility and weakness. While governments and central banks have reacted with 
various financial packages and reliefs designed to stabilise economic conditions, the duration and extent of the 
impact of the COVID19 outbreak, as well as the effectiveness of government and central bank responses, 
remain unclear at this time. However, management of the Group is actively monitoring any effects of 
COVID19 may have on its business operations and financial performance. 
 
Management has updated its assumptions with respect to judgements and estimates, discussed below, due to 
continued uncertainties in the volatile economic environment in which the Group conducts its operations.  
 
Impairment of financial assets and Estimated Credit Losses (ECL) 
The negative economic outlook and cash flow difficulties experienced by customers as a result of COVID19 
have been factored into the Group’s forecasts of future conditions, which may have resulted in an increase in 
its allowance for ECLs of trade and other receivables. This is to reflect: 
  

a) a greater probability of default across many customers, even those that currently do not exhibit 
significant increases in credit risk but may in the future, and 
 

b) a higher magnitude of loss given default, due to possible decreases in the value of collateral and other 
assets. 

 
For the unquoted financial assets, the Group considered, among other factors, impacts of the volatility in the 
markets and affected sectors in its assessment of any indicators of impairment which represents management's 
best assessment based on observable available information as at the reporting date. Given the impact of 
COVID19, the Group is closely monitoring whether the fair values of the financial assets and liabilities 
represent the price that would be achieved for transactions between market participants.  
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group has performed an assessment for its equity accounted investments using various factors including 
considering the impact of COVID19 on entities operating in the similar sector, and compared the actual results 
for the period against the approved budgets and industry standards to determine any indictors of impairment. 
The assessment did not result into any material impact. 
 
The Group has also considered any impairment indicators arising as a result of COVID19 and any significant 
uncertainties around other non-financial assets including its property, plant and equipment and inventories and 
concluded there is no material impact due to COVID19.  
 
As at the reporting date, the Group has not identified any significant impact on the carrying values of its non-
financial assets as at 31 December 2021 due to the uncertainty involved in determining the effect on projected 
cash flows generated from these non-financial assets or the market participants expectations of the price 
depending on the approach used in determining the fair value of those assets at 31 December 2020. The Group 
is aware that certain geographies and sectors in which these assets exist are negatively impacted, and as the 
situation continues to unfold, the Group consistently monitors the market outlook and uses relevant 
assumptions in reflecting the values of these non-financial assets appropriately in the consolidated financial 
statements.  
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32 Covid19 Pandemic Impact (continued) 

 
Going concern 
At each reporting date, management assesses the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and considers 
all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the annual 
reporting date. Management assessment of going concern included a wide range of factors, such as: current and 
expected profitability, debt repayment schedules and potential sources of replacement financing, and the ability 
to continue providing services with due consideration for economic uncertainties resulting from COVID19. 
Although, the full impact of COVID19 continues to evolve, the results of current projections and assumptions 
show that the Group has adequate resources to continue its normal operations. As a result, the consolidated 
financial statements have been appropriately prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
Contingencies and Commitments 
The Group’s assessment of anticipated losses on account of reduction in demand, meeting contractual 
obligations, supply chain disruptions or losses due to an overall decline in economic output as a result of 
COVID19 did not result into any matters that need disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.  
 
 




